SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRITTANY REEVES

APPELLANT

VS.

NO.: 2010-TS-01429

JOHN WAYMAN SOWELL

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Madison County, Mississippi

WALTER H. BOONE, MSF EDDEREK "BEAU" COLE, MSB FORMAN PERRY WATKINS KRUTZ & TARDY LLP City Centre' Building, 200 South Lamar Street, Suite 100 Jackson, Mississippi 39201-4099 Post Office Box 22608 Jackson, Mississippi 39225-2608 Telephone: (601) 960-8600 Facsimile: (601) 960-8613

Facsimile: (601) 960-8613
Attorneys for Appellant Rainey

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRITTANY REEVES

APPELLANT

VS.

NO.: 2010-TS-01429

JOHN WAYMAN SOWELL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment to John Wayman Sowell?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 23, 2006, Brittany Reeves (later Brittany Rainey) ("Rainey") was employed as a twenty-three year old dispatcher for the Madison County Sheriff's Department. (R. 18; R.E. A). While participating in a department-sanctioned "ride-along" with a superior officer, she was involved in an automobile accident on Highway 22 with Vandy Sowell ("Vandy"). *Id.*Vandy was pulling an unlighted trailer on the public roadways at night, stopped in the middle of Highway 22, and was turning into John Waymon Sowell's (his uncle's) driveway. (R. 467-520; R.E. B). Vandy was returning the dangerous and unlit trailer to where it was normally kept, and where it was going to be used the following day. *Id.* The sheriff's deputy driver did not see the unlit trailer stopped in the road, unsuccessfully swerved at the last moment to avoid impact, and slammed the passenger side of the deputy's vehicle (where Rainey was sitting) into the dangerous trailer. *Id.* Rainey sustained severe injuries, including a skull fracture and severe facial lacerations as a result of the collision. (R. 99; R.E. C.)

Rainey filed her complaint against Vandy on November 2, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi. (R. 18; R.E. A). In her original Complaint, Rainey alleged that Vandy was negligent, careless, and reckless by driving his truck and towing a trailer without the required lighting devices. *Id.* Discovery commenced, and Rainey eventually discovered that John Wayman Sowell ("Sowell") also bore responsibility for the accident, including but not limited to, the following facts:

- Sowell built the trailer without rear facing lights, and provided that trailer for Vandy to use. (R. 541-566; R.E. B).
- Sowell owned the trailer and a combine and they were lent to Vandy as a "package deal."
 Vandy was allowed to "use" the trailer while he paid for it. (R. 576; R.E. B)

¹ The trial court record is referenced according to the Index of Appellant's Record, including the specific tab and page number of each excerpt cited.

• At the time of the collision, Vandy was attempting to return the dangerous trailer to Sowell's home, where the trailer was normally kept. (R. 478; R.E. B). Vandy intended to use the unlighted trailer on Sowell's property the following day. *Id*.

On December 30, 2008, Rainey amended her complaint to add Sowell as a defendant in the action. (R. 99; R.E. C). In her Amended Complaint, Rainey alleged that Sowell was negligent, grossly negligent, and negligent per se by providing an admittedly dangerous instrumentality to Vandy when Sowell knew that it would be used in a manner involving risk of harm to Rainey and others. *Id.* Rainey alleged, in the alternative, that Sowell was liable as a manufacturer of a defective product under Mississippi law. *Id.* Several months later, Rainey settled her claims against Vandy, and he was subsequently dismissed. (R. 180; R.E. D). Discovery continued on Rainey's claims against Sowell, and Rainey was able to establish that Sowell controlled the trailer, knew the trailer was dangerous, and failed to take any action to prevent the use of the dangerous trailer.

On May 3, 2010, Sowell filed his motion for summary judgment. (R. 463; R.E. B). In that motion, Sowell argued that he was exempt from any statutory or common law duties because Sowell did not own the trailer, the statutes requiring lighting on trailers did not apply to him, and even if they did, the trailer was exempt "farm equipment" under Miss. Code Ann. §63-7-9. *Id.*Next, Sowell argued that he was not the owner of the trailer at the time of the collision and, therefore, was not liable for negligent entrustment of the dangerous trailer. (R. 633; R.E. B)

Finally, Sowell argued that he was not a "seller" or "manufacturer" of products under Mississippi law. *Id.*

Rainey responded to Sowell's motion for summary judgment on May 24, 2010. (R. 656; R.E. E). Rainey cited a host of factual evidence and testimony supporting her claims for negligence, gross negligence, and product liability. The trial court heard oral argument on Sowell's motion, and entered summary judgment dismissing all of Rainey's claims on July 28,

2010.² (R. 716; R.E. F). While the trial court essentially adopted all of Sowell's arguments, the trial court specifically ruled, as a matter of law, that Sowell did not own the trailer, and Sowell owed no common law or statutory duty to anyone, including Rainey. (Tr. 8; R.E. G). Rainey appealed to this Court on August 26, 2010. (R. 717; R.E. H).

²Rainey does not dispute, or appeal from, the trial court's dismissal of her product liability claim. While Sowell admittedly manufactured the defective and unreasonably dangerous trailer, the record supported Sowell's contention that he was an "occasional" seller, and not liable for product liability. When this case is remanded for trial, Rainey will not prosecute her product liability claim.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial erred court when it entered summary judgment as to all claims brought by Rainey for several reasons.

First, Rainey alleged in her complaint, and offered substantial evidence in the record to support, claims of negligence and gross negligence against Sowell, including but not limited to, the following:

- Selling, lending, entrusting and/or giving the subject trailer to Vandy Sowell, when Sowell knew, or should have known, that such trailer was unsafe;
- Permitting, knowing and/or allowing the trailer to be used on the roadways in violation of Mississippi law;
- Failing to warn Vandy Sowell of the defective and dangerous condition of the subject trailer;
- Failing to take reasonable precautions to ensure that the trailer was not used on the roadways in its dangerous condition, or at the very least, not used at dusk or night in its dangerous condition; and
- Other acts of negligence which will be proven at trial.

(R. 99; R.E. C). The trial court erroneously focused on <u>one of</u> Rainey's claims – "negligent entrustment" – and ignored the substantial evidence which supported <u>all of</u> Rainey's negligence claims.

Second, as to Rainey's negligent entrustment claim, Sowell and the trial court wrongly narrowed the focus to "ownership" of the dangerous trailer, when "control" of that trailer was, and is, the primary determinant of liability in a negligent entrustment claim. The record below is ripe with evidence that Sowell "controlled" the trailer at issue, even if Sowell didn't technically own it. Rainey also believes she has proven that Sowell actually owned the trailer, or at least established a genuine dispute of material fact about who did.

Third, the trial court erred when it ruled that Sowell owed no duty at all to the public at large for making, supplying, permitting the use of, and failing to warn about the dangers of, a trailer without required lighting, when Sowell knew that the unlit trailer was dangerous. At the very least, where there has been substantial evidence of negligence presented, the question of foreseeability must be left to the jury.

Considering the established facts and testimony, the trial court erred by granting summary judgment and dismissing all of Rainey's claims. Summary judgment must be overruled unless the court finds "beyond any reasonable doubt" that the plaintiff cannot prove his claim. *Burton v. Choctaw County*, 730 So.2d 1, 3 (Miss. 1999). The evidence and record in this case, at the very least, is subject to "more than one reasonable interpretation," and must therefore be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Miller v. Meeks*, 762 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss. 2000). The trial court must be overruled, and the case remanded for trial.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. RAINEY ALLEGED, AND HAS PROVEN, A NUMBER OF NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS.

In granting summary judgment, the trial court erred in focusing on only one of Rainey's claims – negligent entrustment. Rainey alleged that Sowell was negligent in a number of different respects, but Sowell attempted to limit all of Rainey's claims to negligent entrustment, and then focus the inquiry solely on Sowell's lack of "ownership" as a complete defense to the negligent entrustment claim. Unfortunately, the trial court embraced Sowell's myopic view. As demonstrated below, however, Rainey has proven each and every independent act of negligence alleged or, at the very least, demonstrated the existence of genuine factual disputes which must be resolved by a jury. The trial court failed to consider all of Rainey's claims, failed to apply the appropriate legal standard to Rainey's negligent entrustment claim, and then completely discounted the testimony supporting these claims. The trial court's ruling invaded the province of the jury, and effectively prevented a jury from considering the "weight and worth" of the testimony supporting all of Rainey's negligence claims.

A. RAINEY HAS ALLEGED A HOST OF NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS, AND HER COMPLAINT WAS NOT, AND IS NOT, LIMITED TO NEGLIGENT ENTRUSTMENT.

Rainey alleged that Sowell was negligent and grossly negligent. Rainey specifically alleged claims of negligence and gross negligence against Sowell, including but not limited to, the following:

- Selling, lending, entrusting and/or giving the subject trailer to Vandy Sowell, when Sowell knew, or should have known, that such trailer was unsafe;
- Permitting, knowing and/or allowing the trailer to be used on the roadways in violation of Mississippi law;
- Failing to warn Vandy Sowell of the defective and dangerous condition of the subject trailer;

- Failing to take reasonable precautions to ensure that the trailer was not used on the roadways in its dangerous condition, or at the very least, not used at dusk or night in its dangerous condition; and
- Other acts of negligence which will be proven at trial.

(R. 99; R.E. C). Rainey did not limit her claims to "negligent entrustment." In fact, Sowell specifically asked Rainey to describe "everything in specific factual detail that you contend this Defendant [Sowell] did or failed to do that was negligent, wrong or improper that caused...the alleged incident." Rainey responded:

RESPONSE: John Wayman Sowell manufactured and/or sold a defective and unreasonably dangerous trailer to Vandy J. Sowell with the knowledge that it had been used, and continue to be used on the public roadways of the State of Mississippi. The trailer was defective and unreasonably dangerous because, at the time of the manufacture, it had no rear lights and insufficient, if any, reflectors to warn others of its presence in the roadway. John Wayman Sowell admitted in his April 30, 2009 deposition that the use of such a defective product on a public roadway was "risky and wrong" and otherwise "unsafe." John Wayman Sowell knew about the danger which caused the accident and was aware of a design alternative (i.e., installation of rear lights) which would have prevented the accident.

John Wayman Sowell was negligent in selling, lending, entrusting, and/or giving the subject trailer to Vandy Sowell, when he knew that such trailer was unsafe and would be used on the public roadways. This defendant was negligent in permitting the trailer to be used on the public roadways without any warning of its defective condition or use limitations based on its admittedly defective condition. The defective and unreasonably dangerous condition of the trailer caused severe and permanent injury to Plaintiff including but not limited to severe facial and head lacerations; broken and crushed skull and bones; head injury; bruising on arms and legs; multiple surgeries on right eye and head; psychological and emotional trauma; withdrawal from pain medications; headaches; eye irritation; disfigurement; scarring; lack of feeling in head, teeth, and other areas; pain and discomfort; irreparable damage to marriage, embarrassment, and other damages. Discovery on this issue is ongoing and this response will be supplemented in accordance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

(R. 523-524; R.E. B). Rainey's complaint, her response to written discovery, and the substantial proof gathered in discovery were not limited to a "negligent entrustment" claim.

B. RAINEY HAS OFFERED EVIDENCE PROVING THOSE NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS, OR AT LEAST CREATED DISPUTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.

With regards to the specific acts of Sowell's negligence alleged in the Complaint, Rainey offered the following proof from which a jury – the ultimate finder of fact – could have concluded that Sowell failed to exercise ordinary care, and was negligent.

- Sowell built the trailer at issue without rear facing lights and provided that trailer for Vandy to use. (R. 541-566; R.E. B).
- It was, and is, a violation of Mississippi law to operate or knowingly permit a trailer to operate without lights on the public roadways. Miss. Code. Ann. §§ 63-13-3, 63-7-7, 63-7-13, and 63-7-15.
- The unlighted trailer, as built and used by Sowell, lent to Vandy, and at the time of the accident, was "defective and unreasonably dangerous," according to the sworn affidavit of Chris Barron, Rainey's liability expert. (R. 656; R.E. E).
- Sowell knew that the trailer was dangerous, and testified that to have a trailer without lights is "wrong and risky." (R. 584; R.E. B).
- Sowell built the trailer to go "every working day" on the public roadways, but didn't put lights on it. (R. 574; R.E. B).
- Sowell himself took the trailer out at night, even though he knew it was unsafe. ("It's unsafe enough. I don't want to take that chance I'll say. With them reflectors on it, it wasn't altogether unsafe. But it was unsafe enough I wasn't willing to take that chance.")(R. 574; R.E. B).
- Vandy testified that Sowell still owned the trailer, and was letting him "use" the trailer while Vandy paid Sowell for it. ("... he and I made a deal that I could I could he would let me use it or he gave it to me so that I could use it when I was pulling corn, and I pulled his corn in terms of we swapped it out.")(R. 483; R.E. B).
- Sowell owned a combine and trailer, and they were lent/given to Vandy as a "package deal" in exchange for pulling Sowell's corn. (R. 576; R.E. B). Vandy would either pay cash a little at a time or come and cut Sowell's corn, and Sowell would subtract it from the purchase price of the combine and trailer. *Id.* The "package deal" for the use of the trailer occurred only a "few months" months before the accident. *Id.*
- Regardless of who technically "owned" the trailer, Sowell exercised control over the trailer.

- Vandy was returning the trailer to Sowell's property, and turning right into Sowell's driveway at the time of the accident. (R. 577; R.E. B).
- Vandy testified that, at the time of the accident, he was going to leave the trailer at his uncle's shop because Vandy was going to cut corn for him the next day. (R. 478; R.E. B).
- Vandy normally left the trailer at Sowell's shop. Id.
- Sowell testified that "if he didn't need, just bring it back when he got through with it. . ." (R. 576; R.E. B).
- Sowell confirmed that the trailer stayed at his house "a portion of the time." (R. 551; R.E. B).
- Vandy testified that the trailer "would have been at Uncle Wayman's shop where I would have picked it up from. He has a big shed that I was parking the combine under and everything, and I could just leave it there." (R. 480; R.E. B).
- Vandy further testified that "I could use it and he could use it." Id.
- Sowell confirmed that "all my equipment basically stayed on my home place." (R. 552;
 R.E. B).
- Sowell knew that Vandy was going to be using the trailer on public roadways. (R. 578; R.E. B).
- Sowell knew that Vandy had no land himself so the trailer had to be used on public roadways. *Id*.
- Sowell failed to warn Vandy of the danger associated with use of the unlighted trailer at night:
 - Q. Yes, sir. But you didn't tell him anything about lights did you?
 - A. About what?
 - Q. Lights on the trailer.
 - A. No.
 - Q. And you didn't tell him anything about don't run this trailer at night, did you?
 - A. No.

Q. And you didn't tell him anything about before you run this trailer at night, you need to go put lights on it, did you?

A. I didn't tell him anything.

(R. 578-579; R.E. B).

The above examples illustrate that Sowell was negligent, and Sowell's negligence proximately caused the accident and Rainey's injuries. Sowell knew that the trailer was dangerous and knew that to have a trailer without lights was "wrong and "risky," but lent, provided, or supplied that dangerous trailer without any warnings to Vandy anyway. (R. 584; R.E. B).

The proof cited above clearly illustrates that Sowell's negligence created an "unreasonable risk of injury" or, at the very least, the existence of genuine factual issues. A jury should have been allowed to resolve the question of Sowell's "reasonable care" (or the lack thereof) and the ultimate question of whether or not Sowell's negligence caused or contributed to this accident. Doe v. Wright Security Services, Inc., 950 So.2d 1076, 1084 (Miss. 2007) (Reasonable care, or the lack thereof, is a question to be decided by the finder of fact in any negligence case.); Hankins Lumber Co. v. Moore, 774 So.2d 459, 464 (Miss. 2000) ("The standard of care applicable in cases of alleged negligent conduct is whether the party charged with negligence acted as a reasonable and prudent person would have under the same or similar circumstances...it is a question of fact for the jury to determine."); J.K. Dent v. Luckett, 135 So.2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1961) (In an action by a driver who sustained injury as a result of colliding with an unlighted cotton trailer, the court found that the absence of reflectors or lights on the trailer was a "matter for the consideration of the jury based upon their own experience and observation."). The trial court's summary dismissal of all of the negligence claims was improper and must be reversed.

This Court has previously held that trial courts should "err on the side of denying motions for summary judgment." Clark v. Ill. Cent. R.R. Co., 794 So.2d 191, 198 (Miss. 2001)(citing Doe v. Stegall, 757 So.2d 201, 204)(Miss. 2000)). Summary judgment is "not a substitute for trial of disputed fact issues." Dennis v. Searle, 457 So.2d 941, 944 (Miss. 1984)(overruled on different grounds by Thornhill v. System Fuels, Inc., 523 So.2d 983, 2007 (Miss. 1988)). The trial court cannot try issues of fact in a summary judgment motion, and should be limited to determining "whether there are issues to be tried." Id. In this case, the trial court should have simply determined whether Rainey would have been "unable to prove any facts" to support her negligence claims "beyond any reasonable doubt." Burton, 730 So.2d 1, 3 (Miss. 1999) (citing Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993)). The trial court's summary dismissal of all of Rainey's negligence claims – where there were clear factual issues – was an invasion of the jury's role in deciding the critical factual issues.

II. RAINEY HAS PROVEN NEGLIGENT ENTRUSTMENT.

Even though Rainey's claims were not limited to negligent entrustment, she has offered more than sufficient proof of negligent entrustment to survive summary judgment. At Sowell's urging, the trial court focused its entire analysis of negligent entrustment on the question of whether or not Sowell owned the trailer. At the oral argument, the trial court concluded that "I don't think there's any issue of material fact that the trailer was owned by Vandy Sowell. And for that reason, and all the reasons set forth in the defendant's motion, the motion for summary judgment will be granted." (Tr. 8; R.E. G).

Unfortunately, "control" – and not "ownership" – is the determinative factor in a negligent entrustment case, and Rainey has offered more than sufficient proof to meet her burden of proof on that claim. Moreover, even though "ownership" is not the determinative factor, Rainey can offer, and has offered, enough testimony and reasonable inference to create an issue

of fact on the question of ownership. For these reasons, Rainey has proven a negligent entrustment claim, and summary judgment dismissing that claim must be reversed.

A. "CONTROL" – AND NOT "OWNERSHIP" – IS THE PRIMARY ELEMENT OF NEGLIGENT ENTRUSTMENT, AND RAINEY OFFERED EVIDENCE THAT SOWELL "CONTROLLED" THE DANGEROUS TRAILER.

Liability arises for negligent entrustment where a person makes a dangerous instrumentality available to another under "circumstances that create an unreasonable risk of injury" to others. *Savage v. Lagrange*, 815 So.2d 485, 492 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (discussing the Mississippi view of the doctrine of negligent entrustment). This Court and numerous other courts have adopted the law of negligent entrustment set forth in the Restatement of Torts, Second. *Id.* According to the Restatement,

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