IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRITTANY REEVES

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-TS-01429

JOHN WAYMAN SOWELL

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

J. TUCKER MITCHELL (MSB # MATTHEW T. BIGGERS (MSB # MITCHELL DAY, PLLC 618 Crescent Boulevard, Suite 203 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone: (601) 707-4036 Facsimile: (601) 213-4116 Attorneys for Appellee John Wayman Sowell

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRITTANY REEVES

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

NO. 2010-TS-01429

JOHN WAYMAN SOWELL

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly granted summary judgment as to all claims brought by Rainey. Wayman Sowell owed no duty to Rainey or to the public. Existence of a legal duty is a question of law. If, as Rainey contends, the existence of a legal duty is based solely on foresceability, then the question of whether a legal duty exists would always be a question of fact. Mississippi's law is clear that existence of a legal duty is a question of law to be decided by the court, not a jury.

The statutes Rainey relies on as evidence of a legal duty do not apply to Wayman Sowell. The plain language of the Mississippi statute that requires the installation of lights or lamps applies to persons who drive, move, or own the subject vehicle. Wayman Sowell did not drive, move, or own the trailer at issue at the time of the subject accident. Further, the statutory lighting requirements specifically exempt the subject farm trailer as an implement of husbandry. The subject trailer was adapted for agricultural use, namely transporting fuel and refueling farm machinery.

In addition, Mississippi law and the facts of the case do not support the acts of negligence Rainey alleged as to Wayman Sowell. Rainey's negligent entrustment claim must fail, as Wayman Sowell neither owned nor controlled the subject trailer at the time of the subject accident. Wayman Sowell's transfer of the subject trailer to his nephew Vandy extinguished any potential liability on Wayman Sowell's part relating to any alleged negligent entrustment of the subject trailer. Even assuming Wayman Sowell could somehow control the subject trailer despite Vandy's ownership of the trailer, Wayman Sowell cannot be liable for negligent entrustment of the trailer where, as here, the party who injured Rainey was the owner of the trailer.

Rainey has failed to cite any legal authority to show that Wayman Sowell can be liable to a third party, Rainey, for any alleged failure to warn Vandy of the lack of lighting on the trailer. Assuming the "failure to warn" theory applied to third parties, it would not apply in this case because

the alleged defect (absence of powered lighting and/or lamps) was open and obvious, negating any potential liability for a failure to warn.

Rainey's argument that Wayman Sowell failed to prevent use of the trailer on public roadways in its alleged dangerous condition also is without merit. No legal duty exists for a person who transfers a product to someone else to thereafter "take reasonable precautions" to prevent that person from using the product in different conditions. After transferring the trailer to Vandy Sowell, Wayman Sowell no longer had control over how, when and in what manner the trailer was used. If the Court adopts Plaintiff's argument, courts would be forced to impose infinite liability on people who sell items at garage sales, grandparents who pass down items to their grandchildren, and any person who gives an item to someone else.

The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Wayman Sowell, and this Court should affirm that grant of summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. WAYMAN SOWELL HAD NO LEGAL DUTY TO RAINEY OR THE PUBLIC

The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Wayman Sowell. Wayman Sowell owed no legal duty to Rainey or to the public regarding the subject trailer. Despite Rainey's best efforts to create a fact issue, existence of a legal duty is a question of law. The statutes Rainey relied on as creating a legal duty do not apply to Wayman Sowell, as he did not own the subject trailer at the time of the accident and was not moving the subject trailer at the time of the accident. Even if the statutes Rainey relied on apply to Wayman Sowell, the Mississippi Legislature has specifically exempted "implements of husbandry" such as the subject farm trailer from the requirements of those statutes. This Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment.

A. Existence of a Legal Duty is a Question of Law.

Whether Wayman Sowell owed a duty to Rainey or to the public is a question of law. In the trial court proceedings below, Rainey contended that whether a legal duty exists depends on foreseeability, and because foreseeability is a jury question, the trial court should have denied summary judgment. Mississippi law is clear that whether a legal duty exists is a question of law for the Court to decide. "To prevail in any type of negligence action, a plaintiff must first prove the existence of a duty." *Enterprise Leasing Co. South Cent., Inc. v. Bardin, 8* So.3d 866, 868 (Miss. 2009)(citing *Laurel Yamaha, Inc. v. Freeman,* 956 So.2d 897, 904 (Miss.2007)). The Court stated that "the plaintiff must show (1) the existence of a duty 'to conform to a specific standard for the protection of others against the unreasonable risk of injury '".... *Id.* (quoting *Burnham v. Tabb,* 508 So.2d 1072, 1074 (Miss.1987) (emphasis in original)). The Court also has stated that " whether a duty exists in a negligence case is a question of law to be determined by the court." *Brown v. J.J.*

Ferguson Sand and Gravel Co., 858 So.2d 129, 131 (Miss.2003) (quoting *Belmont Homes, Inc. v. Stewart,* 792 So.2d 229, 232 (Miss.2001)).

Rainey contends that Wayman Sowell "was fully aware of the risks associated with driving the trailer at night" and that "Sowell should have refused Vandy access to the trailer at night, put lights on the trailer himself, or at least warned Vandy of the risks." Appellant's Br., p. 27. In essence, Rainey states that because Wayman Sowell could foresee an accident might occur if the trailer were used at night, that he had a duty to ensure that Vandy, an adult and the owner of the trailer, would never use the trailer at night. Rainey's contention is without merit. After transferring the trailer to Vandy Sowell, Wayman Sowell no longer had control over how, when, and in what manner the trailer was used. If the Court adopts Plaintiff's argument, courts would be forced to impose infinite liability on people who sell items at garage sales, grandparents who pass down items to their grandchildren, and any person who gives an item to someone else. There is no law to support such a duty.

If, as Rainey contends, the existence of a legal duty is based solely on foreseeability, then the question of whether a legal duty exists would always be a question of fact. Stated otherwise, in response to a dispositive motion on a lack of legal duty, the responding party can simply argue, "it was foreseeable" – thereby converting the issue into a fact issue. Rainey's contention is not supported by the law of Mississippi. To adopt Rainey's argument would be to disregard the numerous Mississippi cases dismissing lawsuits for a lack of legal duty.

In fact, in the *Rhaly* case cited by Rainey, the Mississippi Supreme Court agreed:

While duty and causation both involve foreseeability, <u>duty is an issue of law</u>, and causation is generally a matter for the jury. Juries are not instructed in, nor do they engage in, consideration of the policy matters and the precedent which define the concept of duty. <u>This Court has held that the existence vel non of a duty of care is a question of law to be decided by the Court</u>.

Rhaly v. Waste Management of Mississippi, Inc., 43 So. 3d 509, 514 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010)(emphasis added).

Further, Rainey relies on Jester v. Bailey, 234 So. 2d 442 (Miss. 1960) and Dent v. Luckett, 135 So. 2d 840 (Miss. 1961) as authority showing the Wayman Sowell owed a duty to Rainey. Rainey's reliance on those cases is misplaced, as both cases are distinguishable from the instant case. In Jester, the plaintiff Bailey parked several trailers on the shoulder of a roadway. 234 So. 2d at 443. The trailers had no rear lights, signals, or reflectors. Id. Jester, the defendant, struck one of the trailers and pinned the plaintiff between them. Id. The trial court granted a directed verdict against Jester, finding that his negligence in colliding with the trailers was the sole proximate cause of the accident. Id. This Court reversed, finding that the jury should have been given an opportunity to consider whether Bailey was contributorily negligent in parking the unlit trailers on the shoulder of the roadway. Id. The Court in Jester does not discuss the existence of a duty, instead focusing on whether the jury should have considered whether Bailey's conduct in parking unlit trailers on the shoulder of the roadway was a proximate cause of Jester's injuries. In addition, Jester focuses on the actions of the person who actually parked the trailers on the shoulder of the roadway rather than on the person who sold the trailers to the tortfeasor. In the instant case, Vandy was pulling the subject trailer at the time of the accident. Wayman Sowell was not pulling the trailer at the time of the accident, and he did not cause Vandy to pull the trailer at the time of the accident. Jester does not support Rainey's contention the Wayman Sowell owed a duty to Rainey or to the public.

In *Dent*, a driver was injured after colliding with an allegedly unlighted cotton trailer at night. 135 So. 2d at 842. The parties presented conflicting testimony as to the presence or absence of lighting on the cotton trailer. *Id.* The Court found that whether the subject cotton trailer did or did not have lights or reflectors was a question of fact for the consideration of the jury. *Id.* The presence or absence of lighting is not at issue in the instant case, and the absence of lighting on the trailer at issue is undisputed. *Dent* does not support Rainey's contention that Wayman Sowell had a duty to Rainey regarding the subject trailer.

Rainey's attempt to create a fact issue regarding whether a legal duty exists is without merit and contrary to Mississippi law.

B. The Statutes Rainey Relied on Do Not Apply to Wayman Sowell.

Rainey contended that Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 63-13-3, 63-7-13, 63-7-15, and 63-7-7 established Wayman Sowell's duty to her. Rainey argued that "the statute applies to Sowell" on page 9 of her Response to Wayman Sowell's Motion for Summary Judgment. Section 63-7-7 provides:

It is a misdemeanor for any person to drive or move or for the owner to cause or knowingly permit to be driven or moved on any highway any vehicle or combination of vehicles which is in such unsafe condition as to endanger any person, or which does not contain those parts or is not at all times equipped with such lamps and other equipment in proper condition and adjustment as required in this chapter, or which is equipped in any manner in violation of this chapter, or for any person to do any act forbidden or fail to perform any act required under this chapter.

Miss. Code Ann. § 63-7-7. In her Response, Rainey interpreted the statute to mean, "If you manufacture, own, rent, lease, lend, entrust, or give a trailer to someone else and it doesn't have the required lights, you have violated your legal duty to those on the roadways." That interpretation is erroneous. The plain language of the statute only applies to persons who drive, move, or own the subject vehicle. Wayman Sowell did not drive, move, or own the trailer at issue. Rainey cites no legal authority to support her interpretation that Section 63-7-7 applies to persons beyond drivers, movers, or owners. No such authority exists. Therefore, Wayman Sowell did not owe a legal duty to Rainey or to the public.

C. The Statutory Lighting Requirements Relied on by Rainey Specifically Exempt the Subject Farm Trailer

Even assuming the statutes relied on by Rainey create a duty owed by Wayman Sowell to Rainey, Rainey's negligence claims must still fail because the subject farm trailer is exempt from the statutory lighting requirements. In Mississippi Code Annotated Section 63-7-9, the Mississippi Legislature specifically exempted certain classes of vehicles from statutory lighting requirements. That section provides, "Except as may otherwise be provided in this chapter, the provisions of this chapter with respect to equipment on vehicles shall not apply to implements of husbandry, road machinery, road rollers, or farm tractors." Miss. Code Ann. § 63-7-9.

- · · -

The Mississippi Supreme Court, as recently as 2008, upheld this exemption as valid and enforceable as it pertains to implements of husbandry. This Court interpreted this precise exemption in the identical context of a claim for improper lighting on farm equipment. *See Jamison v. Barnes*, 8 So.3d 238, 246 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The court explained:

This exemption extends to the lighting requirements of sections 63-7-11 and 63-7-13(3). See Williams ex rel. Dixon v. Thude, 180 Ariz. 531, 885 P.2d 1096, 1099-1100 (Ct. App.1994) (implements of husbandry exempted from lighting requirements); See Liquid Fertilizer Co. v. Mock, 92 Ga. App. 270, 88 S.E.2d 531, 532 (Ct. App.1955) (farm tractors exempted from lighting requirements unless the tractor falls under a Georgia-specific addition to the uniform act, which required tractors originally equipped with lights to use them); Thomas v. Johnson, 181 So.2d 487, 488-89 (La. Ct. App.1965) (implements of husbandry exempted from equipment requirements); Bernhard v. Lincoln County, 150 Mont. 557, 437 P.2d 377, 379 (1968) (road machinery exempted from lighting requirements); Griffin Grocery Co. v. Logan, 309 P.2d 1074, 1077 (Okla.1957) (road machinery exempted from lighting requirements); Cook v. Caterpillar, Inc., 849 S.W.2d 434, 438-439 (Tex. App.1993) (road machinery exempted from turn signal requirement); Western Packing Co. v. Visser, 11 Wash. App. 149, 521 P.2d 939, 942-43 (1974) (implements of husbandry exempted from lighting requirements).

Id. Section 63-21-5(d) defines "implement of husbandry" to mean:

... [E]very vehicle designed and adapted exclusively for agricultural, horticultural or livestock raising operations or for lifting or carrying an implement of husbandry

and in either case not subject to registration if used upon the highways.

Miss. Code Ann. § 63-21-5(d).

Wayman Sowell testified that the farm trailer "was made strictly to carry fuel to and from the field." (R. at 572, R.E. I). It had a diesel tank, air compressor and vise on it. (R. at 573; R.E. I). There is no question that Wayman Sowell "designed and adapted exclusively for agricultural, horticultural or livestock raising operations or for lifting or carrying an implement of husbandry and in either case not subject to registration if used upon the highways." As an "implement of husbandry," the farm trailer is specifically exempted from the lighting requirements relied on by Rainey. Accordingly, Rainey's claim must fail as Wayman Sowell had no legal duty to her or to the public.

The Legislature further expressed its desire to exempt farm trailers from the lighting requirements in enacting Mississippi Code Annotated Section 63-13-3, which provides:

Operating unsafe vehicles; exceptions

No person shall drive or move on any highway any motor vehicle, trailer, semitrailer or pole trailer, or any combination thereof, unless the equipment upon any and every said vehicle is in good working order and adjustment as required in this chapter, and said vehicle is in such safe mechanical condition as not to endanger the driver or other occupant or any person upon the highway. This section shall not apply to disabled vehicles being moved to a garage or service station by means of another vehicle, or to farm trailers engaged in farm operations, or to any farm tractor, combine, cotton picker, semitrailer, pole trailer, or other agricultural or farming equipment or machinery, or any combination thereof, used primarily for agricultural purposes, and not normally used on the public highways of the state. Moreover, pulpwood trucks or log trucks used exclusively during daylight hours shall not be required under the provisions of this chapter to have any lights in addition to headlights and taillights.

Miss. Code Ann. § 63-13-3.

The subject trailer fits squarely within the foregoing exemption. In consideration of the foregoing, the statute does not apply in this case because the subject farm trailer is specifically

exempted as an implement of husbandry and farm trailer.

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